

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 837 / DECEMBER 2007

MONETARY POLICY AND CORE INFLATION

by Michele Lenza











NO 837 / DECEMBER 2007

MONETARY POLICY AND CORE INFLATION'

by Michele Lenza²



In 2007 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €20 banknote.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=1032548.



1 This paper was part of my PHD thesis and I would like to thank Michel Beine, Pierpaolo Benigno, Domenico Giannone, Lucrezia Reichlin and Philippe Weil for their constructive advices. I also wish to thank Romain Baeriswyl, Jacopo Cimadomo, Antonello D' Agostino, Andreas Hornstein, Kirstin Hubrich, Michael Krause, Bennet McCallum, Luca Sala, Carolyn Tyler, Cristina Vespro and Jurgen Von Hagen and the seminar participants in Tel Aviv (January 2005), Frankfurt am Main (March 2005 and June 2007), Geneva (April 2005), Bad Honnef (July 2005) and Amsterdam (August 2005). All remaining errors are mine. The opinions this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: michele.lenza@ecb.int

© European Central Bank, 2007

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Website http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb. europa.eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/html/ index.en.html

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract	4				
Non-technical summary					
1 Introduction					
2 The model	8				
3 The policy problem	15				
4 Optimal monetary policy					
4.1 The optimal non-inertial plan	19				
4.2 The unconstrained optimal interest rule	23				
5 Conclusion	27				
References					
Appendix 1: Derivation of the welfare criterion					
Appendix 2: Robustness checks					
European Central Bank Working Paper Series	39				

Abstract

This paper studies optimal monetary policy responses in an economy featuring sectorial heterogeneity in the frequency of price adjustments. It shows that a central bank facing heterogeneous nominal rigidities is more likely to behave less aggressively than in a fully sticky economy. Hence, the supposedly excessive caution in the conduct of monetary policy shown by central banks could be partly explained by the existence of a relevant sectorial dispersion in the frequency of price adjustments.

JEL Classification: E43, E52, E58

Keywords: core inflation, elasticity of intertemporal substitution, heterogeneity, nominal rigidity.

Non technical summary

Sectorial heterogeneity in price setting is a well established fact. Among others, Bils and Klenow (2004) and Dhyne et al. (2004) investigate the issue of the frequency of price adjustments for CPI data in several sectors of the United States and the euro area. While, on average, about 15% of prices in the euro area and 25% in the United States are adjusted each month, dispersion across sectors is most relevant. In the euro area and the United States, energy and unprocessed food prices display the highest frequency of price adjustment, while service prices are the stickiest.

Another fairly well established fact is the puzzling "caution" that central banks, and the Federal Reserve in particular, seem to adopt in the conduct of monetary policy. Rudebusch and Sevnnsson (1999), for example, estimate a small-scale model of the United States economy and, assuming a commonly accepted loss function for the central bank, show that the optimal Taylor rule in their setting has much larger coefficients on inflation and the output gap than the actual (estimated) Taylor rule of the Federal Reserve. Sack (2000) provides more evidence by performing a similar exercise and showing that the response of the federal funds rate to five identified economic shocks should be stronger than what is actually observed.

This paper argues that the two stylized facts above may be linked. In fact, both the economic literature and the practice of policy-making assign a relevant role to core inflation indices. These indices filter out high frequency fluctuations from prices in order to improve the understanding of medium-term inflationary pressures on the economy (for a survey of methods see Cristadoro et al., 2005). In particular, simple core inflation indices are derived by eliminating the most volatile components (usually, unprocessed food and energy prices) from the aggregate price index. How does this practice of central banks affect their behavior? In particular, do central banks behave more or less aggressively by using core inflation rather than overall inflation as a measure to assess inflationary pressures?

Aoki (2001) studies an economy featuring a continuum of sticky price goods and one flexible price good and shows that, in this economy, an optimizing central bank should fully stabilize inflation in the sticky price sector rather than overall inflation. Sticky price inflation, responding to smoothed expectations of output gaps and relative price changes, is defined as core inflation to the extent that it captures a persistent component of inflation. Both the form of nominal rigidities in Aoki (2001) and the definition of core inflation are maintained in this paper.

However, in contrast to Aoki (2001), this paper assumes the existence of nonnegligible transaction frictions. This creates a trade-off between macroeconomic stabilization (that is, stabilization of inflation and the output gap) and interest rate stabilization, a feature that is rather plausible empirically. As a result of this assumption, full stabilization of core inflation is no longer the only desired target of the optimizing central bank. Then, the equilibrium solution for inflation, aggregate activity and the interest rate conditional to the policy rule followed by the central bank are derived, based on two assumptions.

First, it is assumed that the central bank can only implement an optimal noninertial plan as in Woodford (1999): the policy instrument is assumed to be a linear function of only present and future values of policy relevant variables. Conditional to the optimal non-inertial plan, the dynamics of the economy can be derived analytically in order to identify the drivers of the aggressiveness in the reaction of the interest rate to shocks. Comparing the outcomes in the economy with heterogeneous price setters (heterogeneous economy) with those in an economy with 100% of sticky price goods (hereafter, baseline New Keynesian economy, described in Woodford, 1999), it turns out that the optimal non-inertial plan in the heterogeneous economy may generate less aggressive responses of the interest rate to supply and demand shocks than in the baseline New Keynesian (NK) economy. A sufficient condition for the latter is that output is rather interest sensitive, that is the transmission of the monetary impulse to output is rather strong. In fact, the presence of sectorial heterogeneity in nominal rigidities makes aggregate activity less interest-sensitive than in the baseline fully sticky price economy. This effect is more pronounced the stronger the transmission mechanism of monetary policy to output. Moreover, inflation sensitivity to output is "small" when output is strongly interest-sensitive. These two features reduce the willingness of monetary policy-makers to engage in macroeconomic stabilization increasing their willingness to preserve interest rate stability. However, if the sufficient condition above is not satisfied, other structural features of the economy shape the aggressiveness of monetary policy.

Finally, the assumption of forward-looking policy is relaxed and it is shown that the unconstrained optimal and time consistent policy rule of the central bank features history-dependence. Conditional to this policy, the equilibrium path for inflation, output gap and the interest rate can no longer be analytically derived. Numerical outcomes show that, conditional to the fully optimal policy and to a wide range of parameters, the reaction of the interest rate to supply and demand shocks is less aggressive in the heterogeneous economy compared with the fully sticky economy.

Hence, a central bank in an economy featuring heterogeneity in the mechanisms of price adjustments is more likely to behave less aggressively than in a fully sticky economy.

1 Introduction

Sectorial heterogeneity in price setting is a well established fact. Among others, Bils and Klenow (2004) and Dhyne et al. (2004) investigate the issue of the frequency of price adjustments for CPI data in several sectors of the United States and the euro area. While, on average, about 15% of prices in the euro area and 25% in the United States are adjusted each month, dispersion across sectors is most relevant. In the euro area and the United States, energy and unprocessed food prices display the highest frequency of price adjustment, while service prices are the stickiest.

Another fairly well established fact is the puzzling "caution" that central banks, and the Federal Reserve in particular, seem to adopt in the conduct of monetary policy. Rudebusch and Svennsson (1999), for example, estimate a small-scale model of the United States economy and, assuming a commonly accepted loss function for the central bank, show that the optimal Taylor rule in their setting has much larger coefficients on inflation and the output gap than the actual (estimated) Taylor rule of the Federal Reserve. Sack (2000) provides more evidence by performing a similar exercise and showing that the response of the federal funds rate to five identified economic shocks should be stronger than what is actually observed.

This paper argues that the two stylized facts above may be linked. In fact, both the economic literature and the practice of policy-making assign a relevant role to core inflation indices. These indices filter out high frequency fluctuations from prices in order to improve the understanding of medium-term inflationary pressures on the economy (for a survey of methods see Cristadoro et al., 2005). In particular, simple core inflation indices are derived by eliminating the most volatile components (usually, unprocessed food and energy prices) from the aggregate price index. How does this practice of central banks affect their behavior? In particular, do central banks behave more or less aggressively by using core inflation rather than overall inflation as a measure to assess inflationary pressures?

Aoki (2001) studies an economy featuring a continuum of sticky price goods and one flexible price good and shows that, in this economy, an optimizing central bank should fully stabilize inflation in the sticky price sector rather than overall inflation. Sticky price inflation, responding to smoothed expectations of output gaps and relative price changes, is defined as core inflation to the extent that it captures a persistent component of inflation. Both the form of nominal rigidities in Aoki (2001) and the definition of core inflation are maintained in this paper.

However, in contrast to Aoki (2001), this paper assumes the existence of nonnegligible transaction frictions. This creates a trade-off between macroeconomic stabilization (that is, stabilization of inflation and the output gap) and interest rate stabilization, a feature that is rather plausible empirically. As a result of this assumption, full stabilization of core inflation is no longer the only desired target of the optimizing central bank. Then, the equilibrium solution for inflation, aggregate activity and the interest rate conditional to the policy rule followed by the central bank are derived, based on two assumptions.

First, it is assumed that the central bank can only implement an optimal noninertial plan as in Woodford (1999): the policy instrument is assumed to be a linear function of only present and future values of policy relevant variables. Conditional to the optimal non-inertial plan, the dynamics of the economy can be derived analytically in order to identify the drivers of the aggressiveness in the reaction of the interest rate to shocks. Comparing the outcomes in the economy with heterogeneous price setters (heterogeneous economy) with those in an economy with 100% of sticky price goods (hereafter, baseline New Keynesian economy, described in Woodford, 1999), it turns out that the optimal non-inertial plan in the heterogeneous economy may generate less aggressive responses of the interest rate to supply and demand shocks than in the baseline New Keynesian (NK) economy. A sufficient condition for the latter is that output is rather interest sensitive, that is the transmission of the monetary impulse to output is rather strong. In fact, the presence of sectorial heterogeneity in nominal rigidities makes aggregate activity less interest-sensitive than in the baseline fully sticky price economy. This effect is more pronounced the stronger the transmission mechanism of monetary policy to output. Moreover, inflation sensitivity to output is "small" when output is strongly interest-sensitive. These two features reduce the willingness of monetary policy-makers to engage in macroeconomic stabilization increasing their willingness to preserve interest rate stability. However, if the sufficient condition above is not satisfied, other structural features of the economy shape the aggressiveness of monetary policy.

Finally, the assumption of forward-looking policy is relaxed and it is shown that the unconstrained optimal and time consistent policy rule of the central bank features history-dependence. Conditional to this policy, the equilibrium path for inflation, output gap and the interest rate can no longer be analytically derived. Numerical outcomes show that, conditional to the fully optimal policy and to a wide range of parameters, the reaction of the interest rate to supply and demand shocks is less aggressive in the heterogeneous economy compared with the fully sticky economy.

Hence, a central bank in an economy featuring heterogeneity in the mechanisms of price adjustments is more likely to behave less aggressively than in a fully sticky economy.

The structure of the paper is as follows: section 2 presents the model economy and its loglinear approximation; section 3 describes the optimal monetary policy problem; section 4 solves the optimal monetary problems and provides an interpretation for the results; section 5 concludes.

2 The Model

Heterogeneity in the degree of nominal rigidities across sectors is a relevant empirical feature in the United States and the euro area. Consequently, a model that describes the optimal behavior of the monetary policy-maker should take this feature into account. To this end, this paper follows Aoki (2001) by adopting a framework in which there is a good that has a flexible price² and a continuum of differentiated goods whose price

 $^{^{2}}$ Benigno (2003) and Woodford (2003) specify two sectors (or countries) models with different degrees of price stickiness and imperfect competition. However, the simplified framework of Aoki (2001) is adopted here in order to account for the extremely skewed distribution of frequency of adjustment in goods and services prices.

is stick y^3 .

The economy is populated by a continuum (0-1) of infinitely lived households. Each household can work at the production of only one single good. A fraction of size γ of these households supply their labor for the production of a continuum $0 - \gamma$ of differentiated sticky price goods. The remaining households (of measure $1 - \gamma$) supply their services for the production of a flexible price good. Households receive utility directly from holding real balances. The expected utility function of household *i* is

$$E_0 \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} \beta^T \left[U(C_{t+T}^i, B_{t+T}) + K(\frac{M_{t+T}^i}{P_{t+s}}, D_{t+T}) - V(h_{j,t+T}^i, E_{j,t+T}) \right]$$
(2.1)

where β is the constant subjective discount factor, C_t^i total consumption expenditure of household *i*, M_t^i nominal balances, P_t the aggregate price index and $h_{j,t}^i$ hours worked into the production of the good *i* ($i = 0 - \gamma; f$) in sector *j* (j = s, f). B_t , D_t and $E_{j,t}$ are preference shocks with B_t and D_t common to all the agents while $E_{j,t}$ is allowed to vary across the two sectors. The utility function is concave and additive separable in its arguments and there is a positive level of real balances at which agents are satiated. C_t^i is a CES aggregator

$$C_t^i = \frac{C_{st}^{i\gamma} C_{ft}^{i1-\gamma}}{\gamma^{\gamma} (1-\gamma)^{1-\gamma}}$$
(2.2)

where C_{st}^i and C_{ft}^i are, respectively, aggregate household *i* consumption expenditure in sticky price and flexible price goods. C_{st}^i is a CES aggregator of the single differentiated sticky price goods

$$C_{st}^{i} = \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{\vartheta}} \int_{0}^{\gamma} c_{s,t}(i)^{\frac{\vartheta-1}{\vartheta}} di\right]^{\frac{\vartheta}{\vartheta-1}}$$
(2.3)

where ϑ represents the constant degree of substitutability across goods and it is assumed to be bigger than 1. As in Woodford (2003), the flow budget constraint of household *i* is given by

$$\frac{i_t - i_t^m}{1 + i_t} M_t^i + E_t Q_{t,t+1} W_{t+1}^i \le W_t^i - T_t - P_t C_t^i + w_{j,t}^i h_t^i + \int_0^1 \Pi_t(z) dz$$
(2.4)

where W_{t+1}^i represents the amount of financial wealth carried over to the next period by household *i*, $w_{j,t}^i$ is the wage earned by household *i* for the production of good *i* in sector *j*, $\Pi_t(z)$ is the amount of profits stemming from the sale of good *z* accruing to household *i*, i_t is the risk-free interest rate, i_t^m is the interest rate earned on nominal

³Here, flexible and sticky sectors are defined as the set of firms producing the flexible price goods and the sticky price goods, respectively

balances⁴ and $Q_{t,t+1}$ is the unique stochastic discount factor or asset-pricing kernel in this economy. Since i_t is the risk - free interest rate, it must hold that

$$\frac{1}{1+i_t} = E_t Q_{t,t+1} \tag{2.5}$$

The aggregate price index is given by

$$P_t = P_{st}^{\gamma} P_{ft}^{1-\gamma} \tag{2.6}$$

where P_{ft} is the price of the unique flexible price good, while P_{st} is the index that aggregates all the price $p_{s,t}(i)$ of the sticky price goods and is defined as

$$P_{st} = \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \int_{0}^{\gamma} p_{s,t}(i)^{1-\vartheta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\vartheta}}$$
(2.7)

Household i chooses its optimal contingent plan for consumption expenditure, financial wealth, hours worked and real balances taking good prices, financial prices and wages as given. The consumption-saving trade-off is regulated by the Euler Equation

$$\frac{1}{1+i_t} = \beta E_t \left[\frac{U_c(C_{t+1}, B_{t+1})}{U_c(C_t, B_t)} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} \right]$$
(2.8)

which links the expected evolution of the consumption path to the expected real interest rate. Higher expected real interest rates induce households to save more and then to a steeper positively sloped or a flatter negatively sloped consumption path. Notice that consumption expenditure is not indexed in (2.8) since, in equilibrium, consumers share risk perfectly. Money demand is the same for all agents: it is positively affected by the level of transactions and negatively affected by the opportunity cost of holding wealth in the form of money, the risk-free interest rate. In fact,

$$\frac{K_m(m_t, D_t)}{U_c(C_t, B_t)} = \frac{i_t}{1 + i_t}$$
(2.9)

Overall consumption expenditure is split across sticky and flexible price goods according to the following relationships

$$\mathbb{C}_{st} = \gamma (\frac{P_{st}}{P_t})^{-1} C_t \tag{2.10}$$

and

$$\mathbb{C}_{ft} = (1 - \gamma) (\frac{P_{ft}}{P_t})^{-1} C_t \tag{2.11}$$

that is, aggregate consumption of the goods in the two sectors depends negatively on the relative prices of the sectorial consumption aggregates with respect to the aggregate

⁴Here, $i_t^m = 0$ which turns out to represent the institutional arrangements of actual central banks, like the Federal Reserve.

consumption price index. The overall expenditure devoted to sticky price goods is further split across the single differentiated goods according to

$$c_{st}(i) = \frac{1}{\gamma} \left(\frac{P_{st}(i)}{P_{st}}\right)^{-\vartheta} C_{st}$$
(2.12)

Finally, households in the two sectors choose hours worked according to the labor supply relationships

$$\frac{V_{h_s}(h_{s,t}^i, E_{s,t})}{U_c(C_t, B_t)} = \frac{w_{s,t}^i}{P_t}$$
(2.13)

and

$$\frac{V_{h_f}(h_{f,t}^l, E_{f,t})}{U_c(C_t, B_t)} = \frac{w_{f,t}^l}{P_t}$$
(2.14)

that is, they equal the marginal rate of substitution between hours worked and consumption to the real wage they earn. Firms set prices optimally by taking the demand for their goods as given. For each good i, the following market clearing conditions hold

$$y_{s,t}(i) = c_{s,t}(i)$$

and

$$y_{f,t} = c_{f,t}$$

that, on aggregate, imply

$$Y_{st} = C_{st}, Y_{ft} = C_{ft}, Y_t = C_t$$

Moreover, the production function of each of the firms takes the simple linear form

$$y_{j,t}(i) = A_{j,t} h_{j,t}(i) \tag{2.15}$$

where there is only a production input, labor, whose marginal productivity is affected by a stochastically evolving and possibly sector-specific technological factor. Consequently, total variable costs for producer i in sector j are represented by

$$VC_{j,t}^{i} = w_{j,t}^{i}h_{j,t}^{i} = w_{j,t}^{i}\frac{y_{j,t}(i)}{A_{j,t}}$$

which implies the following marginal costs

$$MC^i_{j,t} = \frac{w^i_{j,t}}{A_{j,t}}$$

Since firms in the flexible price sector act in a regime of perfect competition, their optimal price equals marginal costs

$$P_{f,t} = \frac{w_{f,t}}{A_{f,t}}$$

which, in general equilibrium, becomes

$$P_{f,t} = P_t \frac{V_{h_f}(h_{f,t}, E_{f,t})}{U_c(C_t, B_t)} \frac{1}{A_{f,t}}$$
(2.16)

The sticky price sector, on the other hand, features both real and nominal rigidities. Goods are differentiated and firms act in a regime of monopolistic competition. Moreover, in each period, only a fraction $1 - \xi$ of randomly chosen firms can optimally reset their price at the value $P_{st}^*(i)^5$. ξ can be alternatively interpreted as the probability for each firm in the sticky price sector not to be drawn among the price setters at each period. Equation (2.7) then implies

$$P_{st}^{1-\vartheta} = \xi P_{st-1}^{1-\vartheta} + (1-\xi) P_{st}^*(i)^{1-\vartheta}$$
(2.17)

As for $P_{st}^*(i)$, every firm entitled to reset its price at time t realizes that with a constant probability at each time and independently of when it last changed its price, it will not be able to reset its price. Moreover, such a firm takes into account a demand curve for its good of the form (2.12). Finally, as in Rotemberg and Woodford (1997), the production in the sticky price sector is subsidized at a rate τ such that the effects of markup pricing in monopolistic competition are completely offset. Consequently, firm *i* solves the following problem⁶

$$\max_{P_t^*(i)} E_t \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} \xi^T Q_{t,t+T} \left[(1+\tau) P_{st}^*(i) y_{t+T}(i) - w_{s,t+T}^i h_{s,t+T}^i \right]$$
(2.18)

s.t.

$$y_{t+T}(i) = \left(\frac{P_{st+T}}{P_{t+T}}\right)^{-1} \left(\frac{P_{st}(i)}{P_{st+T}}\right)^{-\vartheta} Y_t$$
$$y_{t+T}(i) = A_{st+T} h_{s,t+T}^i$$

whose first order condition is given by

$$E_t \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} \xi^T Q_{t,t+T} \left[P_{st}^*(i) - \frac{1}{1+\tau} \frac{\vartheta}{\vartheta+1} \frac{w_{s,t+T}^i}{A_{st+T}} \right] y_{t+T}(i) = 0$$

implying that producers in the sticky sector optimally reset their price at a present discounted value of their current and expected future marginal costs. Assuming that $\tau = \frac{1}{\vartheta - 1}$ and replacing the second term in the square parenthesis by equation (2.13) we obtain

$$E_{t}\sum_{T=0}^{\infty}\xi^{T}Q_{t,t+T}\left[P_{st}^{*}(i) - \frac{P_{t+T}}{A_{st+T}}\frac{V_{h_{s}}(h_{s,t+T}^{i}, E_{s,t+T})}{U_{c}(C_{t+T}, B_{t+T})}\right]y_{t+T}(i) = 0$$
(2.19)

⁵This form of nominal rigidities is proposed by Calvo (1983).

 $^{{}^{6}}E_{t}$ denotes conditional expectation based on the information set available at time t.

In order to solve the model, the first order conditions are loglinearized around a deterministic steady state with zero inflation. The loglinear version of the model is specified in terms of relative prices, defined as follows

$$X_{ft} = \frac{P_{ft}}{P_t}, X_{st} = \frac{P_{st}}{P_t}, X_t^* = \frac{P_{st}^*(i)}{P_t}$$

Moreover, the sectorial inflation rates are defined as

$$\pi_{j,t} = \log \frac{P_{jt}}{P_{jt-1}}, j=s,f$$

and the overall inflation rate as

$$\pi_t = \log \frac{P_t}{P_{t-1}}$$

Hereafter, small cases indicate logarithmic deviations from steady state. By manipulating and loglinearizing equation (2.6), one obtains

$$\pi_t = \gamma \pi_{st} + (1 - \gamma) \pi_{ft} \tag{2.20}$$

$$x_{st} = -\frac{1-\gamma}{\gamma} x_{ft} \tag{2.21}$$

 and^7

$$\pi_t = \pi_{st} - \Delta x_{st} = \pi_{st} + \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma} \Delta x_{ft}$$
(2.22)

As for aggregate demand, loglinearization of the Euler equation (8) provides

$$y_t - b_t = E_t(y_{t+1} - b_{t+1}) - \frac{1}{\sigma} (i_t - E_t \pi_{t+1})$$
(2.23)

which is usually defined as the New IS equation⁸. As its non-linear counterpart, this equation states that the expected slope of the temporal path of aggregate demand depends on the expected real interest rate $i_t - E_t \pi_{t+1}$. However, the sensitivity of the path to the riskless interest rate (and consequently to monetary policy) is affected by the (steady state) value of the elasticity of intertemporal substitution $\frac{1}{\sigma} = -\frac{U_C}{U_{CC}C}$. The more agents are willing to substitute intertemporally (that is, the bigger the elasticity of intertemporal substitution), the more aggregate demand is sensitive to the interest rate and hence to monetary policy. The equations (2.11) and (2.12), relating to the individual demand for goods, can be aggregated and loglinearized providing the sectorial demand curves

$$y_{st} = y_t - x_{st} \tag{2.24}$$

⁷The symbol Δ indicates first differencing

⁸Throughout this paper, all the stochastic processes of the shocks are assumed to be stationary and normalized to 1 in steady state. Consequently, $b_t = -\frac{U_{CB}}{U_{CCC}}B_t$.

$$y_{ft} = y_t - x_{ft} \tag{2.25}$$

which are downward sloping in the corresponding prices relative to the overall index. Importantly, sectorial outputs may be affected by the other sector dynamics through their dependence on aggregate output and the linkages in relative prices x_{ft} and x_{st} , highlighted in equation (2.21). The first order condition for real balances (2.9) gives

$$m_t = \eta_y y_t - \eta_i i_t + \varepsilon_t \tag{2.26}$$

where η_y and η_i are two positive coefficients, while ε_t is a composite shock that involves both B_t and D_t^{9} . This equation is a stochastic version of the traditional LM equation where money demand depends positively on the level of transactions and negatively on the opportunity cost of holding wealth in a monetary form. Natural (or potential) output¹⁰ can be derived by setting prices equal to current marginal cost in both sectors. By loglinearizing the perfect competition/flexible price allocations in the two sectors, one obtains

$$y_{jt}^{n} = \frac{1+\omega}{\omega+\sigma}a_{jt} - \frac{\sigma}{\omega+\sigma}b_{t} - \frac{\eta}{\omega+\sigma}e_{jt} \text{ with } j=\text{s,f}$$
(2.27)

where $\omega = \frac{V_{hh}}{V_h}h$ (and is assumed equal in both sectors) and $\eta = \frac{V_{he}}{V_h}$. It is worth noticing that, if the labor supply shock and the technology shock are common to the whole economy, natural output in the sticky price sector and in the flexible price sector are the same. Aggregate output gap g_t is defined as

$$g_t = \gamma \left(y_t - y_{st}^n \right) + (1 - \gamma) \left(y_t - y_{ft}^n \right)$$
 (2.28)

which, in the case of common technology and labor supply shocks, simplifies to¹¹

$$g_t = y_t - y_{st}^n = y_t - y_{ft}^n$$

Core inflation depends only on the prices of the firms in the sticky price sector that can reset the price. In fact, by loglinearizing equation (2.17), one obtains

$$\pi_{st} = \frac{1-\xi}{\xi} p_{st}^*$$
 (2.29)

where in p_{st}^* , the index *i* is dropped since each firm sets it at the same value, in equilibrium. The optimal pricing equation in the sticky price sector (2.19) may be loglinearized along the lines of Aoki (2001) and Woodford (2003) to derive a stochastic difference equation in p_{st}^* . Putting this equation together with equation (2.29) and manipulating slightly, one finds

¹¹In other words, when all the shocks in the economy are aggregate, aggregate output gap is equal to the sectorial output gaps $g_{st} = y_t - y_{st}^n$ and $g_{ft} = y_t - y_{ft}^n$

⁹In particular, $\eta_y = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^m}$ where σ has previously been defined and $\sigma^m = -\frac{K_{MM}}{K_M}M$ and $\eta_i = \frac{U_C}{K_M} \frac{1}{(1+i)\sigma^m}$, while $\varepsilon_t = \frac{1}{\sigma^m} \left[\frac{K_{MD}}{K_M}D_t - \frac{U_{CB}}{U_C}B_t\right]$. ¹⁰Defined as output in the fully flexible price economy.

$$\pi_{st} = \beta E_t \pi_{st+1} + \frac{(\omega + \sigma)(1 - \xi\beta)(1 - \xi)}{\xi(1 + \vartheta\omega)\gamma} g_t$$
(2.30)

Core inflation is forward-looking because firms forecast the future evolution of their marginal costs when they are allowed to reset the price, as they might not be able to adjust it in the future. For the sake of simplicity, the elasticity of inflation to current output gap is defined as

$$k = \frac{(\omega + \sigma)(1 - \xi\beta)(1 - \xi)}{\xi(1 + \vartheta\omega)\gamma}$$
(2.31)

Finally, it is worth noting that by substituting the definition of aggregate output gap (2.28) in equation (2.23), one obtains

$$g_t = E_t(g_{t+1}) - \frac{1}{\sigma} \left(i_t - E_t \pi_{t+1} - r_t^n \right)$$
(2.32)

where

$$r_t^n = \sigma \left[b_t - E_t b_{t+1} + \gamma (E_t y_{st+1}^n - y_{st}^n) + (1 - \gamma) (E_t y_{ft+1}^n - y_{ft}^n) \right]$$
(2.33)

is the so called "natural interest rate": the real interest rate in a fully flexible price economy.

3 The policy problem

This section describes the objectives of monetary policy and the constraints that the structure of the economy imposes on the central bank in setting the desired contingent path for the welfare relevant variables.

The quadratic loss function¹² of the central bank may be derived by means of a second order Taylor approximation¹³ to the utility function of the agents that gives

$$L_{t} = E_{0} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} \left[\pi_{st}^{2} + \lambda_{i} (i_{t} - i^{*})^{2} + \lambda_{g} g_{t}^{2} \right]$$
(3.34)

where

$$\lambda_i = \frac{v^{-1}\eta_i(1-\xi)(1-\xi\beta)}{\xi\gamma\vartheta(1+\omega\vartheta)}$$
(3.35)

and

 $^{^{12}}$ For a derivation, see appendix 1.

¹³In deriving the approximation, the transaction frictions described in the previous section are assumed to be "small" in the sense of Woodford (2003). Moreover, it is also assumed that the government subsidizes production in the sticky price sector in order to eliminate the effects of monopolistic pricing, as in Rotemberg and Woodford (1997). On the consequences of different assumptions (small or deliberately large monopolistic distortions and distortionary taxation), see Woodford (2003) and Benigno and Woodford (2004).

$$\lambda_g = \frac{(\omega + \sigma)(1 - \xi)(1 - \xi\beta)}{\xi\gamma^2\vartheta(1 + \omega\vartheta)}$$
(3.36)

represent, respectively, the weights of interest rate and output gap stabilization relative to core inflation stabilization¹⁴ and $i^* = \ln \frac{1}{1+i^{ss}}$ with i^{ss} equal to the steady state value of the nominal interest rate. As in Aoki (2001), the central bank in this economy must stabilize core inflation (π_{st}) and aggregate output gap (g_t) . Output gap appears in the loss function because the level of aggregate output in the economy is inefficient, due to nominal rigidities rather than imperfect competition, whose effect on output is eliminated by a government subsidy. However, eliminating the output gap is not enough to lead the economy to an efficient allocation of resources. In fact, price staggering implies an inefficient dispersion of prices. Such a distortion is eliminated by setting inflation to zero, which explains why inflation in the sticky price sector (core inflation) appears as an argument in the loss function. The relative price of the flexible good with respect to the aggregate is set at a sub-optimal level from a social welfare point of view only because of the linkages between the two sectors highlighted in (2.21). Consequently, eliminating distortions in the sticky price sector is enough to restore the efficient allocation in the flexible price sector and in the aggregate, as well. This is why no variables relative to the flexible price sector appear explicitly in the loss function. Output gap and core inflation stabilization will be jointly referred to as "macroeconomic stabilization" from now on.

On the other hand, the central bank in this model should also dampen fluctuations in its operating target, the risk-free interest rate, differently from Aoki (2001). In fact, money provides services to the agents and is included in their utility functions. Consequently, the central bank should give the agents as much money as needed to satiate them, driving the nominal interest rate to the return earned by money¹⁵. Hence, every variation of the interest rate from the return to $money^{16}$ is penalized in the loss function of the central bank. Hereafter, this objective will be defined as "operating target stabilization".

Operating target stabilization generally runs counter to macroeconomic stabilization. In fact, in (2.32), macroeconomic stabilization implies that the real interest rate equals the natural interest rate r_t^n , while operating target stabilization requires the nominal interest rate to be constantly equal to zero. The consequences of this trade-off will be explored at length in the next section.

The structure of the economy acts as a constraint in the problem of the central bank. Usually, one must consider the equations defining the dynamics of aggregate activity (2.32) and inflation in the sticky price goods (2.30). On the other hand, notice that, from equation (2.22)

$$\pi_t = \pi_{st} + \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma} \Delta x_{ft}$$

¹⁴The weights depend on the deep parameters coming from the microfoundations of the model. The only parameter that has not been defined before is v, which represents steady state "money velocity". ¹⁵This fact is commonly defined as the Friedman Rule.

¹⁶Assumed to be zero in this paper.

implying that in order to solve for inflation and aggregate activity, the evolution of the relative price in the flexible price sector is to be taken into account. To this end, by loglinearizing (2.16) we get

$$x_{ft} = c(y_t - y_{ft}^n) (3.37)$$

where

$$c = \frac{\omega + \sigma}{1 + \omega}$$

By replacing aggregate inflation in (2.32) with (2.22), the system of equations defined by (2.30) and (2.32) includes the three variables π_{st} , g_t and x_{ft} , as well as the monetary policy instrument i_t . Furthermore, (3.37) provides an expression for x_{ft} that depends only on the sectorial output gap in the flexible price sector. Assuming that all the shocks in the economy are common, sectorial output gaps become equal to aggregate output gap. This implies

$$x_{ft} = cg_t \tag{3.38}$$

that can be used to eliminate x_{ft} giving

$$g_t = E_t(g_{t+1}) - \frac{1}{S} \left(i_t - E_t \pi_{st+1} - r_t^n \right)$$
(3.39)

where

$$S = \sigma + \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma} c > \sigma \tag{3.40}$$

In other words, the central bank is only subject to the two constraints (2.30) and (3.39) in its minimization problem. Notice that this problem is isomorphic to the one in Giannoni (2002) and Woodford (1999) "baseline New Keynesian model". However, inflation is replaced by core inflation and the parameters are different¹⁷. As the size of the sticky price sector (γ) approaches 1, core inflation approaches overall inflation and the problem here converges to the one in the baseline New Keynesian model. Then, the outcomes for the heterogeneous ($\gamma < 1$) economy of this paper are easily compared to those of the baseline model retrieved by setting $\gamma = 1$.

Assuming, instead, that the technological and/or labor supply shocks are sector specific, x_{ft} depends on the relative sectorial output gap rather than the aggregate output gap. At any rate, a structural constraint in the same form as (3.39) can be easily derived for this case as well. In fact, by defining

$$x_{ft}^n = c(y_t^n - y_{ft}^n) (3.41)$$

¹⁷Giannoni (2002) and Woodford (1999) specify the same loss function as in this paper but with arbitrary weights on the different objectives. Instead, here the weights come from the microfoundations of the model. This makes it possible to measure the impact of a different γ (smaller than 1 as in the current model, rather than equal to 1 as in the baseline New Keynesian) on the relative importance of the macroeconomic and operating target stabilization.

as the natural relative flexible $price^{18}$, it can be shown that

$$g_t = E_t(g_{t+1}) - \frac{1}{S} \left(i_t - E_t \pi_{st+1} - u_t \right)$$
(3.42)

where, again

$$S = \sigma + \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma}c > \sigma$$

and

$$u_t = r_t^n - E_t \Delta x_{ft+1} \tag{3.43}$$

Hence, assuming sectorial technology and labor supply shocks, the optimal problem of the central bank remains virtually the same. The only difference in (3.42) with respect to (3.39) is in the interpretation of the composite shock. For this reason, this paper only deals with the case of common shocks.

Summing up, in the economy outlined in the previous section, the central bank aims to minimize a loss function that embeds quadratic terms in core inflation, aggregate output gap and the interest rate. Both in the case of common and sectorial technology and labor supply shocks, the central bank is subject to two structural constraints (2.30 and 3.39 or 3.42) on the evolution of aggregate output and sticky price inflation. What changes on the basis of the assumption on the shocks, is the stochastic process (and interpretation) of the composite shocks appearing in the equations that define the evolution of aggregate activity (3.39 and 3.42). Finally, the results obtained in this paper are easily compared to those in the baseline model solved by Woodford (1999) and Giannoni (2002) retrieved by setting $\gamma = 1$ in the results for the model with heterogeneity.

4 Optimal monetary policy

This section derives the optimal monetary policy followed by the central bank in heterogeneous and baseline economies and studies the consequences (in terms of reaction of the interest rate to shocks) of their implementation.

In particular, in the first sub-section the central bank is assumed to follow the optimal policy from a timeless perspective in the class of the forward-looking policies (optimal non-inertial plan). While this policy is sub-optimal because of the constraints imposed by the forward-looking assumption, it permits to solve analytically for the path of the interest rate contingent to shocks and provides intuition on the mechanisms explaining the different reactions of a central bank in heterogeneous and baseline economies.

The second sub-section, on the other hand, derives the monetary policy that is fully optimal. This policy is not in the class of forward-looking policies since it features.

¹⁸This is the (logarithmic) relative price in the flexible sector that would prevail were the whole economy to feature flexible prices. This variable is different from zero only if, as in this case, the two sectors can be affected by different shocks.

However, results from the forward-looking case can be used in order to interpret the dynamics of baseline and heterogeneous economies under such a policy.

4.1 The optimal non-inertial plan

In this sub-section, it is assumed that the central bank implements a purely forwardlooking policy: it sets its policy rate at each date depending only on the set of developments for the target variables that are possible from that period onwards. In particular, it follows a simple rule of the form¹⁹

$$i_t = i^{ss} + \varphi_\pi (\pi_{st} - \pi^{ss}) \tag{4.44}$$

Among the forward-looking plans, the central bank is assumed to follow the optimal non-inertial plan²⁰, that is the forward-looking policy minimizing the unconditional expectation of the loss function L over the stationary distribution of the possible initial exogenous states r_0^n . This implies that the optimal plan does not depend on the state of the economy at the time when the commitment is made, so that the central bank policy is time consistent as in Woodford (1999, 2003). Moreover, φ_{π} is assumed to imply determinacy of the rational expectation equilibrium. As a consequence of the determinacy and the AR(1) assumption for the shocks, the path followed by the interest rate, output gap and core inflation under the optimal non-inertial plan is

$$i_t = i^{ss} + f_i r_t^n, \ g_t = g^{ss} + f_g r_t^n, \ \pi_{st} = \pi^{ss} + f_\pi r_t^n \tag{4.45}$$

where i^{ss} , g^{ss} and π^{ss} are the steady state values for the nominal interest rate, the output gap and core inflation under the optimal policy defined in (4.45). Replacing (4.45) in (3.39), (3.34) and (2.30) and taking the unconditional expectation, the optimization problem of the entral Bank becomes

$$\min_{f_i, f_g, f_\pi, i^{ss}, g^{ss}, \pi^{ss}} \left[\pi^{ss2} + \lambda_i (i^{ss} - i^*)^2 + \lambda_g g^{ss2} \right] + (f_\pi^2 + \lambda_i f_i^2 + \lambda_g f_g^2) Var(r_t^n)$$
(4.46)

subject to

$$f_{\pi}(1-\beta\rho) = kf_g$$
$$f_g(1-\rho) = \frac{1}{S}(1+f_{\pi}\rho - f_i)$$

and

$$\pi^{ss}(1-\beta) = kg^{ss}$$

¹⁹As for the specific form of the rule, notice that a slightly more complicated rule that also includes the output gap would not improve on this simple one. In fact, since the relevant stochastic term for the problem of the central bank is only the exogenous natural interest rate r_t^n or the composite shock u_t , a single variable rule is able to implement the non-inertial plan.

 $^{^{20}\}mathrm{See}$ Woodford (2003) for an application.

$$i^{ss} = \pi^{ss}$$

This optimization problem may be split into two independent parts. On the one hand, the steady state component (choosing i^{ss}, g^{ss}, π^{ss}) and, on the other hand, the choice of f_i, f_g and f_{π} for stabilization purposes. The focus of this paper is exclusively on the impulse response function of the interest rate to shocks, so we only deal with the solutions for f_i, f_g and f_{π}^{21} . The first order conditions for the stabilization problem are

$$f_{\pi} - \mu \rho \frac{1}{S} + \phi (1 - \beta \rho) = 0 \tag{4.47}$$

$$\lambda_g f_g + \mu (1 - \rho) - \phi k = 0 \tag{4.48}$$

$$\lambda_i f_i + \mu \frac{1}{S} = 0 \tag{4.49}$$

where μ and ϕ are the lagrangian multipliers associated with the structural constraints.

Together with the constraints, the first order conditions define a system of five linear equations whose solution²² is

$$f_{i} = \frac{\lambda_{g}(1 - \beta\rho)^{2} + k^{2}}{\lambda_{g}(1 - \beta\rho)^{2} + k^{2} + \lambda_{i} \left[S(1 - \rho)(1 - \beta\rho) - k\rho\right]^{2}}$$
(4.50)
$$f_{\pi} = \frac{k\lambda_{i}(S(1 - \rho)(1 - \beta\rho) - k\rho)}{\lambda_{g}(1 - \beta\rho)^{2} + k^{2} + \lambda_{i} \left[S(1 - \rho)(1 - \beta\rho) - k\rho\right]^{2}}$$
$$f_{g} = \frac{\lambda_{i}(1 - \beta\rho) \left[S(1 - \rho)(1 - \beta\rho) - k\rho\right]}{\lambda_{g}(1 - \beta\rho)^{2} + k^{2} + \lambda_{i} \left[S(1 - \rho)(1 - \beta\rho) - k\rho\right]^{2}}$$

The coefficient φ_{π} that implements the desired equilibrium is easily derived since from (4.44) it holds

$$f_i = \varphi_\pi f_\pi$$

which implies

$$\varphi_{\pi} = \frac{\lambda_g (1 - \beta \rho)^2 + k^2}{k \lambda_i (S(1 - \rho)(1 - \beta \rho) - k\rho)}$$

$$\tag{4.51}$$

The analysis is restricted to positive values of φ_{π} and φ_{π} has to be bigger than one to ensure determinacy. This implies

$$0 < S(1-\rho)(1-\beta\rho) - k\rho < \frac{\lambda_g(1-\beta\rho)^2 + k^2}{k\lambda_i}$$
(4.52)

 $^{^{21}\}mathrm{The}$ interested reader is referred to Woodford (1999, 2003) for the steady state solution in this context.

²²From the solution for π_{st,g_t} and i_t , one can derive the solution for all the other variables in the economy.

 $\frac{\lambda_g(1-\beta\rho)^2+k^2}{k\lambda_i}$ is positive, implying that the set of parameters identified in (4.52) is non-empty.

The impulse response function of the interest rate to a natural rate shock is characterized by the coefficient f_i , as in Giannoni (2002). It must also be noted that f_i is always positive and can take values between 0 and 1. In the policy problem defined in Aoki (2001), f_i is equal to 1, due to the lack of stabilization trade-offs for the central bank. Hence, f_i is independent of the size of the flexible price sector in that economy. However, when the central bank faces a trade-off between macroeconomic stabilization and operating target stabilization it may not be optimal to set f_i to 1. Operating target stabilization would require f_i to be as small as possible, closer to 0 than 1 and the central bank eventually sets f_i at the intermediate level reflecting the right balance among conflicting objectives. Interestingly, the optimal f_i when there is a trade-off does depend on γ , the size of the sticky price sector.

Studying the way in which f_i depends on the size of the sticky price sector sheds light on the question if, under certain circumstances, the optimal non-inertial plan in the heterogeneous economy leads to a less aggressive (a smaller f_i) reaction of the interest rate than in the baseline New Keynesian economy. The difference in the aggressiveness of the central bank in the two economies can be analyzed by comparing the f_i in (4.50) with f_i^* , the counterpart to f_i in the baseline case $\gamma = 1$. Notice that the value of γ affects both the structural equations and the weights of the three economic variables in the loss function. In fact, besides (3.40), the following relationships hold between coefficients in the heterogeneous and in the baseline models²³

$$k = \frac{k^*}{\gamma} \tag{4.53}$$

$$\lambda_i = \frac{\lambda_i^*}{\gamma} \tag{4.54}$$

$$\lambda_g = \frac{\lambda_g^*}{\gamma^2} \tag{4.55}$$

The higher weights to interest and output gap stabilization with respect to inflation in the heterogeneous economy arise because in this type of economy, the sticky price distortion affects a smaller fraction of the firms than in the baseline economy. Moreover, sticky price inflation is more sensitive to the level of the output gap in the model with heterogeneity than in the one without $(k > k^*)$ and then the output gap weight is further magnified in the model with heterogeneity even relative to the interest rate stabilization objective.

Setting $\gamma = 1$, we can derive the optimal reaction of the interest rate to a shock in the baseline case, that is

$$f_i^* = \frac{\lambda_g^* (1 - \beta \rho)^2 + k^{*2}}{\lambda_g^* (1 - \beta \rho)^2 + k^{*2} + \lambda_i^* \left[\sigma (1 - \rho)(1 - \beta \rho) - k^* \rho\right]^2}$$
(4.56)

 $^{^{23}}$ Coefficients of the baseline model are denoted by a star.

In order to facilitate the comparison between f_i and f_i^* , we can use equations from (4.53) to (4.55) and (3.40) to rearrange terms in f_i such that

$$f_i = \frac{\lambda_g^* (1 - \beta \rho)^2 + k^{*2}}{\lambda_g^* (1 - \beta \rho)^2 + k^{*2} + \frac{\lambda_i^*}{\gamma} \left\{ \left[\gamma \sigma + (1 - \gamma)c \right] (1 - \rho)(1 - \beta \rho) - k^* \rho^2 \right\}^2}$$
(4.57)

and consequently

$$f_i < f_i^* \Leftrightarrow \frac{1}{\gamma} \left\{ \left[\gamma \sigma + (1 - \gamma)c \right] (1 - \rho)(1 - \beta \rho) - k^* \rho \right\}^2 > \left[\sigma (1 - \rho)(1 - \beta \rho) - k^* \rho \right]^2$$
(4.58)

The inequality in (4.58) holds if σ is smaller than or equal to 1^{24} . In fact, in that case σ is smaller than or equal to c and the left hand side of the equality in (4.58) is bigger than or equal to the right hand side. However, when σ is big enough, f_i can be either bigger than, smaller than or equal to f_i^* depending on other features of the economy.

The result can be interpreted by looking at equation (3.39) and (3.40), which allow us to recast the monetary policy problem in the model with heterogeneity in a format that only includes the policy relevant variables (which are those that explicitly appear in the loss function of the central bank) and is directly comparable to the traditional problem in the baseline New Keynesian model. These equations imply that the central bank in the model with nominal heterogeneity behaves like a central bank in a model with a representative sector but with output less interest-sensitive than in the baseline case $(S > \sigma)$. Then, in the heterogeneous model, the monetary policy-maker has less incentive to use monetary policy for macroeconomic stabilization than in the baseline case since she acts as though monetary policy were less effective at dampening the fluctuations in aggregate activity and consequently in inflation. This explains why she rather engages in more interest rate stabilization and then the smaller reaction of the interest rate to economic shocks. However, when σ is big, the result is not so clear cut and, depending on the values taken by other structural parameters, both more or less aggressive behavior can stem from the optimal plan in the heterogeneous economy relative to the baseline. The ratio

$$\frac{S}{\sigma} = 1 + \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma(1 + \omega)} + \frac{\omega(1 - \gamma)}{(1 + \omega)\gamma} \frac{1}{\sigma}$$

$$(4.59)$$

may help to understand why. S is always bigger than σ implying that the policymaker in the core model always behaves as if output were less sensitive than in the baseline case, but this ratio decreases with the increase in σ , stabilizing around $1 + \frac{1-\gamma}{\gamma(1+\omega)}$. Hence, the difference in the strength of the effects of monetary policy on output tends to decrease when σ increases, making output less interest-sensitive. Moreover, an increase

²⁴Notice that the positivity constraint on φ_{π} implies that $[\gamma \sigma + (1 - \gamma)c](1 - \rho)(1 - \beta \rho) - k^* \rho^2$ is positive. The inequality also holds for some values of σ bigger than 1 since the result can be extended to those values by continuity. However, deriving the exact upper bound for σ is cumbersome and does not add much content to the main message of the paper.

in σ increases k more than k^* as shown by (4.53) and (2.31). Sticky price inflation is still more sensitive to aggregate activity in the core model than in the baseline model, but this difference is magnified by the increase in σ . These two factors imply that macroeconomic stabilization becomes more attractive relative to operating target stabilization for the central bank in the core model when σ increases. Eventually, macroeconomic stabilization may become more important in the heterogeneous model than in the baseline model relative to operating target stabilization, explaining why monetary policy might turn out to be more aggressive in the former than in the latter economy.

4.2 The unconstrained optimal interest rule

Although it allows useful insights, in general the optimal non-inertial plan represents a sub-optimal choice and also one that is not fully supported by the empirical analysis on the behavior of central banks. Indeed, with forward-looking private agents the central bank can improve on the non-inertial plan by committing to some form of inertial behavior that could shape expectations towards a stronger stabilization of the welfare relevant variables. Moreover, lagged interest rate terms are shown to be empirically relevant for the analysis of the behavior of central banks.

The fully optimal and time consistent interest rule of the central bank solves the following problem²⁵:

$$min_{\pi_{st},g_t,i_t}L_t = E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[\pi_{st}^2 + \lambda_i (i_t - i^*)^2 + \lambda_g g_t^2 \right]$$

s.t.

$$\pi_{st} = \beta E_t \pi_{st+1} + kg_t$$

$$g_t = E_t(g_{t+1}) - \frac{1}{S} \left(i_t - E_t \pi_{st+1} - u_t \right)$$

Setting up the Lagrangian of this problem, taking the first order conditions and replacing the Lagrange multipliers, it can be shown that the solution of this problem from period 2 onwards is:

$$i_t = -\frac{k}{S\beta}i^* + \frac{k+\beta S}{\beta S}i_{t-1} + \frac{1}{\beta}\Delta i_{t-1} + \frac{k}{S\lambda_i}\pi_{st} + \frac{\lambda_g}{S\lambda_i}\Delta g_t$$

Demanding that this policy is already in place at time 0 and 1 allows the central bank to achieve time consistency (that is, it implements the policy that is optimal from a timeless perspective). The optimal rule has some notable features already investigated by Giannoni and Woodford (2002b) for the baseline New Keynesian economy²⁶:

²⁵See Giannoni and Woodford (2002a)

 $^{^{26}}$ Notice that the optimal rule in the baseline New Keynesian model can be retrieved once again by setting $\gamma=1$

- it is history-dependent in that the optimal interest rates depends on its own two lags and on the first lag of the output gap;

- it resembles a Taylor rule in that the optimal interest rate is a linear function of inflation and the output gap.

Next, in order to derive the dynamics of this economy and, in particular, of the interest rate in response to shocks, the following system of three stochastic difference equations has to be solved:

$$\pi_{st} = \beta E_t \pi_{st+1} + kg_t \tag{4.60}$$

$$g_t = E_t(g_{t+1}) - \frac{1}{S} \left(i_t - E_t \pi_{st+1} - u_t \right)$$
(4.61)

$$i_t = -\frac{k}{S\beta}i^* + \frac{k+\beta S}{\beta S}i_{t-1} + \frac{1}{\beta}\Delta i_{t-1} + \frac{k}{S\lambda_i}\pi_{st} + \frac{\lambda_g}{S\lambda_i}\Delta g_t$$
(4.62)

It can be proved²⁷ that, under this policy, the economy can follow only one contingent path (in other words, the solution is determinate) for any value of the parameters. However, the solution for this system is to be derived numerically²⁸ due to the presence of three more state variables (the lags of the interest rate and output gap) than in the optimal non-inertial plan.

As in the previous section, the focus here is on the reaction of the nominal interest rate to a unitary shock in r_t^n , comparing the outcomes in the heterogeneous to those in the baseline New Keynesian economy. In order to solve the model, numerical values have to be assigned to the parameters in equations (4.60) to (4.62). The baseline calibration takes the values of the parameters estimated in Rotemberg and Woodford (1997), with some exceptions. In particular, ξ is set to 0.75, a value that is plausible empirically and that implies that firms reset their price on average once a year (with quarterly data). More importantly, the model in Rotemberg and Woodford (1997), does not feature sectoral heterogeneity in the price adjustment mechanisms. Hence, in order to calibrate the parameter γ (the percentage of firms with a sticky price adjustment), we follow Bils and Klenow (2004) and set it to 0.75. These and the other values of the structural parameters in this economy are reported in Table 1.

Table 1: Baseline Calibration

Model	β	σ	γ	ω	ξ	θ	ρ	ν	η	k	S	λ_i	λ_g
Heterogeneous economy	0.99	0.16	0.75	0.5	0.75	7	0.6	1	1	0.018	0.35	0.004	0.004
Baseline economy	0.99	0.16	1	0.5	0.75	7	0.6	1	1	0.013	0.16	0.003	0.002

²⁷For a proof in the case of the baseline New Keynesian model, see Giannoni and Woodford (2002b). The case of the heterogeneous economy does not require a separate proof due to the isomorphism of the two minimization problems

²⁸The numerical solutions are derived by using the AIM algorithm of Anderson and Moore.

Notice that the values of the first nine parameters (from β to η) are assumed, while the remaining four parameters are non-linear functions of the previous nine. The only difference in the values of the first nine parameters between the heterogeneous and baseline New Keynesian economies lies in the percentage of sticky price firms (γ) which is 100% in the baseline economy. Given these values of the parameters, figure 1 plots the reaction of the nominal interest rate in the heterogeneous (solid line) and baseline (dashed line) economies.

Figure 1: Reaction of nominal interest to a unitary shock in the natural real interest rate



Figure 1 shows that, given the values of the parameters assumed in the baseline calibration, the reaction of the interest rate in the heterogeneous economy is less aggressive than in the baseline economy. In other words, the concern for interest rate stabilization is more relevant in the heterogeneous economy than in the fully sticky economy.

However, in the previous section, we saw that higher values of σ imply that this

result can be reversed, with the reaction of the interest rate being less aggressive in the baseline than in the heterogeneous economy. Hence, figure 2 reports results on the reaction of the nominal interest rate in the heterogeneous and baseline New Keynesian economies under different values of the parameter σ . In particular, figure 2 reports

$$Imp_1 = \frac{i_1^{Het}}{i_1^{NK}}$$

which is the ratio of the reaction of the interest rate in the heterogenous economy relative to the corresponding reaction in the baseline New Keynesian economy at the time when the shock is realized (t=1). A value smaller than 1 in this ratio indicates that, on impact, monetary policy is less aggressive in the heterogeneous than in the baseline economy.





Figure 2 shows that the reaction of the interest rate in the model with heterogeneity is always less aggressive than in the case where all prices are sticky. This also happens for very high values of σ , although the ratio is monotonically increasing for values of σ higher than one. This result partly mirrors those obtained with the non-inertial plan: for high values of sigma, the relative importance of macroeconomic stabilization with respect to interest rate stabilization increases more in the model with heterogeneous price setters than in the baseline New Keynesian model. However, the numerical simulations show that, conditional to the values assigned to the other parameters of the

26 Working Paper Series No 837 December 2007 models in the calibration, the result of a less aggressive reaction of the interest rate in the heterogeneous economy remains robust for higher values of σ .

Appendix 2 reports results for the ratio when several other parameters of the model are assumed to vary from the values assigned in the baseline calibration. The outcome of these simulations is that the reaction of the nominal interest rate in the heterogeneous economy remains robustly less aggressive than in the baseline New Keynesian economy.

In conclusion, the result of the attenuation in the reaction of the interest rate to shocks in the model with heterogeneous price setters is quite robust. This supports the idea that the puzzling caution in the conduct of monetary policy by actual central banks may be partly explained by the fact that they take into account the sectorial heterogeneity in the frequency of price adjustment.

5 Conclusion

This paper analyzes the optimal monetary policy problem of a central bank facing sectorial heterogeneity in price setting. The focus is on the reaction of the interest rate to structural shocks. Comparing this reaction in an economy with heterogeneity with one in which all goods have sticky prices, it is found that a central bank is much more likely to react less aggressively to shocks in the heterogeneous economy. Since actual central banks take into account the sectorial heterogeneity in price setting mechanisms in that they derive and monitor core inflation indices excluding the most volatile components of consumer prices, this finding might help to explain why their reaction to shocks is considered too cautious.

References

- AOKI, K. (2001): "Optimal Monetary Policy Responses to Relative Price Changes," Journal of Monetary Economics, 48, 55–80.
- BENIGNO, P. (2003): "Optimal Monetary Policy in a Currency Area," Journal of International Economics, 63, 293–320.
- BENIGNO, P., AND M. WOODFORD (2004): "Inflation Stabilization and Welfare: the case of a distorted steady state," NBER Working Paper 10838.
- BILS, M., AND P. KLENOW (2004): "Some Evidence on the Importance of Sticky Prices," *Journal of Political Economy*, 112, 947–985.
- CALVO, G. (1983): "Staggered Prices in a Utility Maximizing Framework," Journal of Monetary Economics, 12, 383–398.
- CRISTADORO, R., M. FORNI, L. REICHLIN, AND G. VERONESE (2005): "A Core Inflation Index for the Euro-Area," *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 37, 539– 560.

- DHYNE, E., L. ALVAREZ, H. LE BIHAN, G. VERONESE, D. DIAS, J. HOFFMAN, J. JONKER, P. LUNNEMAN, F. RUMLER, AND J. VILMUNEN (2004): "Price Setting in the Euro Area: Some Stylized Facts from Individual Consumer Price Data," mimeo inflation persistence network.
- GIANNONI, M. (2002): "Does Model Uncertainty Justify Caution? Robust Optimal Monetary Policy in a Forward-Looking Model," *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 6, 111– 144.
- GIANNONI, M., AND M. WOODFORD (2002a): "Optimal Interest-Rate Rules: I. General Theory," NBER Discussion Papers 9419.
- (2002b): "Optimal Interest-Rate Rules: II. Applications," NBER Discussion Papers 9420.
- ROTEMBERG, J., AND M. WOODFORD (1997): "An Optimization-Based Econometric Framework for the Evaluation of Monetary Policy," *NBER Macroeconomics Annual*, 12, 297–346.
- RUDEBUSCH, G., AND L. SVENNSSON (1999): "Policy Rules for Inflation Targeting," J.B. Taylor (ed.) Monetary Policy Rules (University of Chicago Press), pp. 203–246.
- SACK, B. (2000): "Does the FED act gradually? A VAR analysis," Journal of Monetary Economics, pp. 229–256.
- WOODFORD, M. (1999): "Optimal monetary policy inertia," NBER Working Paper 7261.

(2003): Interest and Prices. Princeton University Press.

Appendix 1: Derivation of the welfare criterion

This appendix expounds the steps taken to derive the loss function of the central bank by means of a second order approximation to social welfare, defined by aggregating the utility of the agents:

$$E_{0} \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} \beta^{T} \left[U(C_{t+T}, B_{t+T}) + K(\frac{M_{t+T}}{P_{t+s}}, D_{t+T}) - \int_{0}^{\gamma} V(H_{s,t+T}^{i}(i), E_{s,t+T}) di + -(1-\gamma)V(H_{f,t+T}, E_{f,t+T}) \right]$$
(A.63)

For simplicity, define for the general variable A_t ,

$$\widetilde{a}_t = A_t - A$$

where A is the steady state of A_t , and

$$a_t = \ln(\frac{A_t}{A})$$

Then, the following useful relationship holds

$$a_t = A(a_t + \frac{1}{2}a_t^2) + O(3) \tag{A.64}$$

Approximation of $U(C_t, B_t) = U(Y_t, B_t)$

$$\widetilde{U}(Y_t, B_t) = U_C \widetilde{Y}_t + \frac{1}{2} U_{CC} \widetilde{Y}_t^2 + U_{CB} \widetilde{Y}_t \widetilde{B}_t + t.i.p. + O(3)$$

where t.i.p. stands for terms independent of policy. Exploiting (4.61) and noticing that $b_t = -\frac{U_{CB}}{U_{CC}C}B_t$ and $\sigma = -\frac{U_{CC}C}{U_C}$, we get

$$\widetilde{U}(Y_t, B_t) = \bar{Y}U_c \left[y_t + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \sigma \right) y_t^2 + \sigma b_t y_t \right] + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.65)

Approximation of $K(\frac{M_t}{P_t}, D_t)$

Assume, ss in Woodford (2003), that the transaction technology implies that there is satiation in real money balances at a finite positive level. Moreover, all the conditions on the partial derivatives of the utility function with respect to consumption and real balances invoked in Woodford (2003), pg 422 are verified. Besides that, assume that $\Delta = \frac{I}{1+I}$ is small and can be treated as an expansion parameter. This leads to the conclusion that the economy is well approximated in a neighborhood of the steady state close to the point in which agents are satiated in real balances.

$$\widetilde{K}(M_t/P_t, D_t) = K_M \widetilde{m}_t + \frac{1}{2} K_{MM} \widetilde{m}_t^2 + K_{MD} \widetilde{m}_t \widetilde{d}_t + t.i.p. + O(3)$$

which gives



$$\widetilde{K}(M_t/P_t, D_t) = K_M M \left[m_t + \frac{1}{2} m_t^2 \right] + \frac{1}{2} K_{MM} M^2 m_t^2 + K_{MD} m_t d_t + t.i.p. + O(3) \quad (A.66)$$

Putting (4.62) and (A.63) together we get

$$\widetilde{U}(Y_t, B_t) + \widetilde{K}(M_t/P_t, D_t) =] YU_C \left[y_t + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \sigma) y_t^2 + \sigma b_t y_t + \frac{MK_M}{YU_C} \left(m_t + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \sigma_m) m_t^2 + \frac{K_{MD}}{K_M} m_t d_t \right) \right] + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.67)

where $\sigma_m = -\frac{K_{MM}M}{K_M}$. Defining $S_m = \frac{MK_M}{YU_C}$ and $\varepsilon_t = \frac{1}{\sigma^m} \left[\frac{K_{MD}}{K_M} D_t - \frac{U_{CB}}{U_C} B_t \right]$, this expression can be rewritten as

$$\widetilde{U}(Y_t, B_t) + \widetilde{K}(M_t/P_t, D_t) =$$

$$YU_C \left[y_t + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \sigma) y_t^2 + \sigma b_t y_t + S_m m_t + \frac{1}{2} S_m (1 - \sigma_m) m_t^2 + S_m \sigma_m \varepsilon_t m_t + S_m \sigma b_t m_t \right] + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.68)

Now, notice that from (2.9), $S_m = O(\Delta)$. Moreover, $S_m \sigma_m = -\frac{K_{MM}m^2}{U_C Y}$. Hence

$$S_m m_t + \frac{1}{2} S_m (1 - \sigma_m) m_t^2 + S_m \sigma_m \varepsilon_t m_t + S_m \sigma b_t m_t = S_m m_t - \frac{1}{2} S_m \sigma_m m_t^2 + S_m \sigma_m \varepsilon_t m_t + O(3)$$

which, after some tedious calculations, gives

$$S_m m_t - \frac{1}{2} S_m \sigma_m m_t^2 + S_m \sigma_m \varepsilon_t m_t + O(3) = S_m m_t - \frac{1}{2} S_m \sigma_m (m_t - \varepsilon_t)^2 + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.69)

If (steady state) money velocity is defined as $v = \frac{Y}{M}$, then

$$S_m \sigma_m = -\frac{K_{MM}M^2}{U_C Y} = \frac{K_M}{U_C} v^{-1} \left(-\frac{K_{MM}M}{K_M}\right)$$

that can be used together with $\eta_i = \frac{U_C}{K_M} \frac{1}{(1+I)\sigma^m}$ to show that

$$\eta_i v = (S_m \sigma_m)^{-1} + O(\Delta)$$

This relationship, coupled with equation (A.66) implies that

$$\widetilde{U}(Y_t, B_t) + \widetilde{K}(M_t/P_t, D_t) = YU_C \left[y_t + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \sigma) y_t^2 + \sigma b_t y_t + S_m m_t - \frac{1}{2} (\eta_i v)^{-1} (m_t - \varepsilon_t)^2 \right] + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.70)



Finally,

$$m_t = \eta_y y_t - \eta_i i_t + \varepsilon_t$$

where $\eta_y = \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^m}$, and η_y and η_i are $O(\Delta)$. Hence,

$$\widetilde{U}(Y_t, B_t) + \widetilde{K}(M_t/P_t, D_t) = YU_C \left[y_t + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \sigma) y_t^2 + \sigma b_t y_t - S_m \eta_i i_t - \frac{1}{2} \eta_i v^{-1} i_t^2 \right] + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.71)

Approximation of $-(1 - \gamma)V(H_{f,t}, E_{f,t})$

$$\widetilde{V}(H_{f,t}, E_{f,t}) = V_{Y_f} Y_f \left(y_{f,t} + \frac{1}{2} y_{f,t}^2 \right) + Y_f V_{Y_f A_f} y_{f,t} a_{f,t} + Y_f V_{Y_f E_f} y_{f,t} e_{f,t} + \frac{1}{2} Y_f^2 V_{Y_f Y_f} y_{f,t}^2 + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.72)

Notice that for j = s, f

$$V_{Y_j} = V_{H_j} \frac{1}{A} = V_{H_j}$$
 (A.73)

$$V_{Y_jY_j} = V_{H_jH_j} \frac{1}{A^2} = V_{H_jH_j}$$
(A.74)

$$V_{Y_j A_j} = -(V_{H_j H_j} H_j + V_{H_j})$$
(A.75)

Moreover,

$$\frac{V_{H_jH_j}}{V_{H_j}}H_j = \omega \text{ and } \frac{V_{H_jE_j}}{V_{H_j}} = \eta$$
(A.76)

which are equal in both sectors and

$$\frac{V_{H_sH_s}}{V_{H_s}}H_s = \frac{V_{H_fH_f}}{V_{H_j}}H_f = \frac{V_{HH}}{V_H}H$$
(A.77)

Then

$$\widetilde{V}(H_{f,t}, E_{f,t}) = V_H H \left[y_{f,t} + \frac{1}{2} (1+\omega) y_{f,t}^2 - (1+\omega) y_{f,t} a_{f,t} + \eta y_{f,t} e_{f,t} \right] + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.78)

Approximation of $-\int_0^{\gamma} V(H_{s,t}^i(i), E_{s,t}) di$

Before working out the approximation of this term, notice that

$$y_{s,t} = E_i\left(y_{s,t}(i)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\vartheta - 1}{\vartheta} Var_i\left(y_{s,t}(i)\right)$$
(A.79)

where E_i and Var_i are, respectively, the mean and the variance of $y_{s,t}(i)$ with respect to the cross section of sticky price firms. Then,

$$-\int_{0}^{\gamma} \widetilde{V}(H_{s,t}^{i}(i), E_{s,t}) di = -\gamma \Big[V_{H} H E_{i} \left(y_{s,t}(i) \right) + \frac{1}{2} (V_{H} H + V_{HH} H^{2}) E_{i}^{2} - V_{H} H E_{i} \left(y_{s,t}(i) \right) A_{s,t} + V_{H} H \eta E_{i} \left(y_{s,t}(i) \right) e_{s,t} + t.i.p. + O(3)$$

which, by using (A.76) in order to eliminate the expectation term $E_i(y_{s,t}(i))$, becomes

$$-\int_{0}^{\gamma} \widetilde{V}(H_{s,t}^{i}(i), E_{s,t}) di = -\gamma V_{H} H \Big\{ y_{s,t} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\vartheta - 1}{\vartheta} Var_{i}(y_{s,t}(i)) + \frac{1}{2} (1 + \omega) E_{i} \Big[(y_{s,t}(i))^{2} \Big] - (1 + \omega) y_{s,t} a_{s,t} + \eta y_{s,t} e_{s,t} \Big\} + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.80)

Exploiting the definition of variance and again (A.76) in order to eliminate negligible terms, $E_i \left[(y_{s,t}(i))^2 \right]$ can be further simplified to obtain

$$-\int_{0}^{\gamma} \widetilde{V}(H_{s,t}^{i}(i), E_{s,t}) di = -\gamma V_{h} h \Big\{ y_{s,t} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1 + \vartheta \omega}{\vartheta} Var_{i} \left(y(i)_{s,t} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} (1 + \omega) y_{s,t}^{2} - (1 + \omega) y_{s,t} a_{s,t} + \eta y_{s,t} e_{s,t} \Big\} + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.81)

Approximation of flow utility function

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{U} &(C_{t}, B_{t}) + \widetilde{K}(\frac{M_{t}}{P_{t}}, D_{t}) - \int_{0}^{\gamma} \widetilde{V}(H_{s,t}^{i}(i), E_{s,t}) di - (1-\gamma) \widetilde{V}(H_{f,t}, E_{f,t}) = \\ &YU_{C} \left[y_{t} + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \sigma \right) y_{t}^{2} + \sigma b_{t} y_{t} - S_{m} \eta_{i} i_{t} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{i} v^{-1} i_{t}^{2} \right] \\ &- \gamma V_{h} h \Big\{ y_{s,t} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1 + \vartheta \omega}{\vartheta} Var_{i} \left(y(i)_{s,t} \right) + \frac{1}{2} (1 + \omega) y_{s,t}^{2} - (1 + \omega) y_{s,t} a_{s,t} + \eta y_{s,t} e_{s,t} \Big\} \\ &- (1 - \gamma) V_{H} H \left[y_{f,t} + \frac{1}{2} (1 + \omega) y_{f,t}^{2} - (1 + \omega) y_{f,t} a_{f,t} + \eta y_{f,t} e_{f,t} \right] \end{split}$$
(A.82)

 $Var_i(y_{s,t}(i))$

From

$$Y_{st}(i) = \frac{1}{\gamma} \left(\frac{P_{st}(i)}{P_{st}}\right)^{-\vartheta} Y_{st}$$

one can show that

$$Var_i(y_{s,t}(i)) = \vartheta^2 Var_i(p_{s,t}(i))$$

The term on the right hand side represents the dispersion of prices in the sticky price sector due to the staggered price setting mechanism described by Calvo. Intuitively, this term depends on inflation in the sticky price sector, since if inflation in the sticky price sector is zero at each time, no dispersion would be observed among relative prices set by sticky price setters. Define

$$\bar{p}_{s,t} = E_i \ln p_{s,t}(i)$$

and notice that

$$\bar{p}_{s,t} - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} = E_i \left[\ln p_{s,t}(i) - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right] \\
= \xi E_i \left[\ln p_{s,t-1}(i) - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right] + (1 - \xi) \left[p_{s,t}^* - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right] \\
= (1 - \xi) \left[p_{s,t}^* - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right]$$
(A.83)

The term we are interested in is

$$\Psi_t = Var_i \left(ln P_{s,t}(i) - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right)$$
(A.84)

Notice that

$$\Psi_t = \xi E_i \left[\left(\ln P_{s,t-1}(i) - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right)^2 \right] + (1-\xi) \left[\left(\ln P_t^* - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right)^2 \right] - \left(\bar{p}_{s,t} - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right)^2$$
(A.85)

which reduces to

$$\Psi_t = \xi \Psi_{t-1} + \frac{\xi}{1-\xi} \left(\bar{p}_{s,t} - \bar{p}_{s,t-1} \right)^2 \tag{A.86}$$

Now, notice also that

$$P_{s,t} = \left[\frac{1}{\gamma} \int_{0}^{\gamma} P_{s,t}(i)^{1-\vartheta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\vartheta}}$$

implies

$$\ln P_{s,t} = \frac{1}{1 - \vartheta} \ln \left[E_i \left(p_{s,t}(i)^{1-\vartheta} \right) \right]$$
(A.87)

which, in turn, implies that

$$p_{s,t} = \bar{p}_{s,t} + O(2)$$
 (A.88)

Hence,

$$\Psi_t = \xi \Psi_{t-1} + \frac{\xi}{1-\xi} \pi_{s,t}^2 + O(3)$$

which, by backward iteration, gives

$$\Psi_t = \xi^{t+1} \Psi_{-1} + \frac{\xi}{1-\xi} \sum_{k=0}^t \xi^{t-k} \pi_{s,k}^2 + O(3)$$

and, finally,

$$\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \Psi_t = \frac{\xi}{(1-\xi)(1-\xi\beta)} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \pi_{s,t}^2 + t.i.p. + O(3)$$
(A.89)

Final Form of the loss function

Notice that, from the first order conditions

$$V_H = U_C \Rightarrow V_H H = U_C Y$$

Moreover,

$$y_t = \gamma y_{s,t} + (1 - \gamma) y_{f,t}$$
$$y_t^n = \gamma y_{s,t}^n + (1 - \gamma) y_{f,t}^n$$

and

$$g_t = y_t - y_t^n$$

this implies that the second order approximation of the flow utility function is equal to

$$-\frac{YU_c}{2} \left\{ (\omega + \sigma)g_t^2 + \gamma(1 - \gamma)(1 + \omega) \left[y_{s,t} - y_{f,t} - c(y_{s,t} - y_{f,t}) \right]^2 + 2S_m \eta_i i_t + \eta_i v^{-1} i_t^2 + \gamma \vartheta(1 + \omega \vartheta) Var_i(p(i)_{s,t}) \right\} + t.i.p. + O(3)$$

The term $2S_m\eta_i i_t + (v\eta_i)^{-1}i_t^2$ can be further simplified by noting that

$$S_m v = \frac{K_M}{U_C} = \frac{I}{(1+I)} = \Delta$$

and, then,

$$2S_m \eta_i i_t + \eta_i v^{-1} i_t^2 = \eta_i v^{-1} (i_t + \Delta)^2 + t.i.p. = (v\eta_i)^{-1} (i_t - i^*)^2$$

where $i^* = -\Delta$. Moreover, further tedious algebraic manipulations show that



$$[y_{s,t} - y_{f,t} - c(y_{s,t} - y_{f,t})]^2 = \frac{(1 - \gamma)(1 + \omega)}{\gamma} cg_t^2$$

and, then

$$L_t = E_0 \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[\pi_{st}^2 + \lambda_i (i_t - i^*)^2 + \lambda_g g_t^2 \right]$$
(A.90)

where

$$\lambda_i = \frac{v^{-1}\eta_i(1-\xi)(1-\xi\beta)}{\xi\gamma\vartheta(1+\omega\vartheta)}$$
(A.91)

and

$$\lambda_g = \frac{(\omega + \sigma)(1 - \xi)(1 - \xi\beta)}{\xi\gamma^2\vartheta(1 + \omega\vartheta)} \tag{A.92}$$

disregarding scaling parameters, terms independent of policy and O(3) terms.

Appendix 2: Robustness checks

This appendix shows how the ratio of the impact reaction in the interest rates in the heterogenous economy relative to the baseline New Keynesian economy varies when the values of the parameters depart from those in the baseline calibration.

Figure 3: Ratio impact response interest rate in heterogeneous versus baseline NK model



Obviously, when the percentage of firms with sticky price tends to 100%, the outcomes in the heterogeneous and baseline New Keynesian economy tend to become the same.





Figure 4: Ratio impact response interest rate in heterogeneous versus baseline NK model

High values of ω reduce the differences in the reaction of the interest rate to shocks in the heterogeneous economy compared to the baseline. However, the result does not disappear even for extremely high values of this parameter. The interpretation for the convergence of the results in the heterogeneous economy to those for the baseline economy is that, while the sensitivity of inflation to the output gap does not vary much with ω , the sensitivity of aggregate activity to the interest rate decreases a lot in the heterogeneous economy (conditional to the value assigned to σ) when ω increases. Then, the central bank engages more and more in macroeconomic stabilization relative to the baseline economy.



Figure 5: Ratio impact response interest rate in heterogeneous versus baseline NK model

The outcome of this simulation shows that the result of attenuation in the monetary policy reaction in a heterogeneous economy does not depend on the degree of autocorrelation ρ assumed for the stochastic shock in the economy.

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.europa.eu).

- 807 "Cross-border lending contagion in multinational banks" by A. Derviz and J. Podpiera, September 2007.
- 808 "Model misspecification, the equilibrium natural interest rate and the equity premium" by O. Tristani, September 2007.
- 809 "Is the New Keynesian Phillips curve flat?" by K. Kuester, G. J. Müller und S. Stölting, September 2007.
- 810 "Inflation persistence: euro area and new EU Member States" by M. Franta, B. Saxa and K. Šmídková, September 2007.
- 811 "Instability and nonlinearity in the euro area Phillips curve" by A. Musso, L. Stracca and D. van Dijk, September 2007.
- 812 "The uncovered return parity condition" by L. Cappiello and R. A. De Santis, September 2007.
- 813 "The role of the exchange rate for adjustment in boom and bust episodes" by R. Martin, L. Schuknecht and I. Vansteenkiste, September 2007.
- 814 "Choice of currency in bond issuance and the international role of currencies" by N. Siegfried, E. Simeonova and C. Vespro, September 2007.
- 815 "Do international portfolio investors follow firms' foreign investment decisions?" by R. A. De Santis and P. Ehling, September 2007.
- 816 "The role of credit aggregates and asset prices in the transmission mechanism: a comparison between the euro area and the US" by S. Kaufmann and M. T. Valderrama, September 2007.
- 817 "Convergence and anchoring of yield curves in the euro area" by M. Ehrmann, M. Fratzscher, R. S. Gürkaynak and E. T. Swanson, October 2007.
- 818 "Is time ripe for price level path stability?" by V. Gaspar, F. Smets and D. Vestin, October 2007.
- 819 "Proximity and linkages among coalition participants: a new voting power measure applied to the International Monetary Fund" by J. Reynaud, C. Thimann and L. Gatarek, October 2007.
- 820 "What do we really know about fiscal sustainability in the EU? A panel data diagnostic" by A. Afonso and C. Rault, October 2007.
- 821 "Social value of public information: testing the limits to transparency" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, October 2007.
- 822 "Exchange rate pass-through to trade prices: the role of non-linearities and asymmetries" by M. Bussière, October 2007.
- 823 "Modelling Ireland's exchange rates: from EMS to EMU" by D. Bond and M. J. Harrison and E. J. O'Brien, October 2007.
- 824 "Evolving U.S. monetary policy and the decline of inflation predictability" by L. Benati and P. Surico, October 2007.

- 825 "What can probability forecasts tell us about inflation risks?" by J. A. García and A. Manzanares, October 2007.
- 826 "Risk sharing, finance and institutions in international portfolios" by M. Fratzscher and J. Imbs, October 2007.
- 827 "How is real convergence driving nominal convergence in the new EU Member States?" by S. M. Lein-Rupprecht, M. A. León-Ledesma, and C. Nerlich, November 2007.
- 828 "Potential output growth in several industrialised countries: a comparison" by C. Cahn and A. Saint-Guilhem, November 2007.
- 829 "Modelling inflation in China: a regional perspective" by A. Mehrotra, T. Peltonen and A. Santos Rivera, November 2007.
- 830 "The term structure of euro area break-even inflation rates: the impact of seasonality" by J. Ejsing, J. A. García and T. Werner, November 2007.
- 831 "Hierarchical Markov normal mixture models with applications to financial asset returns" by J. Geweke and G. Amisano, November 2007.
- 832 "The yield curve and macroeconomic dynamics" by P. Hördahl, O. Tristani and D. Vestin, November 2007.
- 833 "Explaining and forecasting euro area exports: which competitiveness indicator performs best?" by M. Ca' Zorzi and B. Schnatz, November 2007.
- 834 "International frictions and optimal monetary policy cooperation: analytical solutions" by M. Darracq Pariès, November 2007.
- 835 "US shocks and global exchange rate configurations" by M. Fratzscher, November 2007.
- 836 "Reporting biases and survey results: evidence from European professional forecasters" by J. A. García and A. Manzanares, December 2007.
- 837 "Monetary policy and core inflation" by M. Lenza, December 2007.

